
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND FOR THE SEVEN-
MONTH PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 

(Figures in thousands of United States dollars) 
 
 



Management’s Report 
To the Shareholders of 5N Plus Inc. 
 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the management of 
5N Plus Inc. and have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and approved by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
These consolidated financial statements and related notes have been prepared by management 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and necessarily include amounts 
based on management’s informed judgments and estimates. 
 
Management is also responsible for all other information included in this Annual Report and for 
ensuring that this information is consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
and business activities. 
 
Management is responsible for the design, establishment and maintenance of appropriate 
internal controls and procedures for financial reporting, to ensure that financial statements for 
external purposes are fairly presented in conformity with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Such internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance on the 
reliability of the financial information and the safeguarding of assets. 
 
The Company’s external auditors have free and independent access to the Audit Committee, 
which is comprised of independent directors. The Audit Committee, which meets regularly 
throughout the year with members of management, reviews the consolidated financial statements 
and recommends their approval to the Board of Directors. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of 
5N Plus Inc. 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of 5N Plus Inc., which comprise the 
consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss), statements of comprehensive income (loss), statements of cash 
flows and statements of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the 7 months 
period ended December 31, 2011 and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of 5N Plus Inc. as at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the seven months period ended 
December 31, 2011 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 

 

 

                                                             
1 CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A116853 
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5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

As at 
December 31, 

2012  

As At
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
 
ASSETS 
Current  
Cash and cash equivalents 9,535  29,449 
Temporary investments (restricted) 2,357  51,882 
Accounts receivable (Note 5) 87,807  76,641 
Inventories (Note 6) 170,293  315,333 
Income tax receivable 18,931  11,022 
Other current assets 2,514  2,762 
Total current assets 291,437  487,089 
Property, plant and equipment (Note 7) 55,548  86,483 
Intangible assets (Note 8) 16,010  68,148 
Deferred tax asset (Note 16) 11,232  2,706 
Goodwill (Note 9) -  124,910 
Investments accounted for using the equity method (Note 10) 503  1,513 
Other assets (Note 11) 9,248  11,495 
Total non-current assets 92,541  295,255 
Total assets  383,978  782,344 
    
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    
Current     
Bank indebtedness and short-term debt (Note 13) 8,014  73,430 
Trade and accrued liabilities (Note 12) 62,214  59,029 
Income tax payable 2,217  354 
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 17) 2,817  3,814 
Long-term debt due within one year (Note 13) 29,527  14,757 
Total current liabilities 104,789  151,384 
Long-term debt (Note 13) 110,898  253,719 
Deferred tax liability (Note 16) 2,632  19,143 
Retirement benefit obligation (Note 14) 12,092  12,315 
Derivative financial liabilities (Note 17) 3,537  1,902 
Other liabilities (Note 15) 1,560  4,171 
Total non-current liabilities 130,719  291,250 
Total liabilities  235,508  442,634 
Shareholders’ equity 148,112  339,241 
Non-controlling interest 358  469 
Total equity 148,470  339,710 
Total liabilities and equity 383,978  782,344 

 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 24) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS (LOSS) 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, except per share information) 
 

 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012  

For the 
seven-month
period ended
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 

   
Revenues  551,675 391,712 
Cost of sales (Note 28) 520,247 357,530 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 28) 45,742 33,500 
Other expenses, net (Note 28) 225,836 23,443 
Share of (profit) loss from joint ventures  333  (429) 
 792,158 414,044 
Operating loss (240,483) (22,332) 
Financial expenses   
Interest on long-term debt 8,012 5,179 
Other interest expense  816 308 
Foreign exchange and derivative (gain) and loss 2,759 (642) 
 11,587 4,845 
Loss before income tax  (252,070) (27,177) 
Income tax recovery (Note 16) (24,221) (4,713) 
Net loss for the period (227,849) (22,464) 
   
Attributable to:   
Equity holders of 5N Plus Inc. (227,738) (21,641) 
Non-controlling interest (111) (823) 
 (227,849) (22,464) 
Loss per share attributable to equity holders of 5N Plus Inc. (Note 22) (2.91) (0.31) 
Basic loss per share (2.91) (0.32) 
Diluted loss per share (2.91) (0.32) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012  

For the
seven-month
period ended
December 31,

2011 
 $  $ 
    
Net loss for the period (227,849)  (22,464)
Other comprehensive income (loss)   
Cash flow hedges, net of income tax of $406 (2011 – $188) (1,102)  (474)
De-designation of cash flow hedges (net of income tax of $(312)) for 2012 848  - 
Currency translation adjustment  215  246 
Comprehensive loss for the period (227,888)  (22,692)
Attributable to equity holders of 5N Plus Inc. (227,777)  (21,869)
Attributable to non-controlling interest (111)  (823)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012  

For the
seven-month
period ended
December 31,

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Operating activities     
Net loss for the period  (227,849)   (22,464)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash flows     

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization  
of intangible assets  21,159  12,797 

Amortization of other assets  1,040  485 
Share-based compensation expense  563  443 
Deferred income tax  (25,037)   (1,357)
Share of (profit) loss from joint ventures  333   (429)
Impairment of inventories (Note 6)  50,585  34,790 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)  39,239  11,460 
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 8)  40,597  700 
Impairment of goodwill (Note 9)  124,910  - 
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment (Note 7)  (932)  - 
Unrealized loss (gain) on non-hedge financial instruments  (1,338)  1,946 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain) on assets and liabilities   2,123   (11,033)

Funds from operations before the following  25,393  27,338 
Net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations (Note 20)  76,419   (38,253)
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities  101,812   (10,915)
Investing activities     
Acquisition of a 40% interest in a subsidiary (Note 4)  -   (1,007)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (15,541)   (9,964)
Acquisition of intangible assets  (347)   (821)
Temporary investments (restricted)  49,525   (529)
Cash flows from (used in) investing activities  33,637   (12,321)
Financing activities     
Repayment of long-term debt  (126,826)   (53,736)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt  -  185,426 
Net decrease in bank indebtedness and short-term debt  (65,416)   (101,273)
Issuance of common shares and warrants (Note 18)  38,636  346 
Share issuance expense   (1,621)   (162)
Financial instruments   263  2,653 
Others  -   (9,211)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities  (154,964)  24,043 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  

related to operations   (399)  592 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents during the period  (19,914)  1,399 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  29,449  28,050 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  9,535  29,449 
     
Supplemental information(a)     
Income tax paid  7,520  9,937 
Interest paid  8,434  6,786 
 
(a) Amounts paid for interest and income tax were reflected as cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows. 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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5N PLUS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, except number of shares) 
 

 
For the year ended 
December 31, 2012 

For the seven-month period 
ended December 31, 2011 

       

Total Equity 
Number
of shares  

 
Amount 

Number 
of shares  Amount 

    $   $ 
        
Shareholders’ Equity      
Share capital      

Balance at beginning of period 70,961,125 305,928 70,892,627 305,464 
Common shares issued on exercise of stock options 43,531 225 68,498 464 
Common shares issued for cash (Note 18) 12,903,613 37,119 - - 

Balance at end of period 83,908,269 343,272 70,961,125 305,928 
Contributed surplus     

Balance at beginning of period  2,691  2,366 
Share-based compensation expense  563  443 
Exercise of stock options  (74)  (118)

Balance at end of period  3,180  2,691 
Retained earnings (deficit)     

Balance at beginning of period  30,850  54,868 
Net loss attributable to equity holders of  

5N Plus Inc. for the period  (227,738)  (21,641)
Acquisition of a 40% interest in a subsidiary  

(Note 4)  -  (2,251)
Share issue expense (net of income tax of $436;  

December 31, 2011 – $36) (Note 18)  (1,185)  (126)
Balance at end of period  (198,073)  30,850 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss     
Balance at beginning of period  (228)  - 

Cash flow hedges (net of income tax of $406;  
2011 – $188)  (1,102)  (474)

De-designation of cash flow hedges (net of income 
tax of $(312)) for 2012  848  - 

Currency translation adjustment  215  246 
Balance at end of period  (267)  (228)

Total shareholders’ equity at end of period  148,112  339,241 
Non-controlling Interest     

Balance at beginning of period  469  1,292 
Share of profit  (111)  (823)

Balance at end of period  358  469 
Total Equity  148,470  339,710 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Nature of operations 
 
5N Plus Inc. (“5N Plus” or the “Company”) is a Canadian-based international company. 5N Plus is a producer of 
specialty metal and chemical products. Fully integrated with closed-loop recycling facilities, the Company’s head 
office is located at 4385 Garand Street, Saint-Laurent, Quebec (Canada) H4R 2B4. The Company operates 
manufacturing facilities and sales offices in several locations in Europe, the Americas and Asia. The Company’s 
shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). 5N Plus and its subsidiaries represent the “Company” 
mentioned throughout these consolidated financial statements. The Company has two reportable business segments, 
namely Electronic Materials and Eco-Friendly Materials. Corporate expenses associated with the head office and 
unallocated selling, general and administrative expenses together with financing costs, gains and/or losses on foreign 
exchange and derivative and the amortization of intangible assets have been regrouped under the heading Corporate 
and unallocated (Note 19). Corresponding operations and activities are managed accordingly by the Company’s key 
decision-makers.  
 
The Electronic Materials segment is headed by a vice president who oversees locally managed operations in North 
America, Europe and Asia. Its main products are associated with the following metals: cadmium, gallium, 
germanium, indium and tellurium. These metals are sold as elements, alloys, chemicals and compounds.  
 
The Eco-Friendly Materials segment is associated mainly with bismuth. This segment is headed by a vice president 
who oversees locally managed operations in Europe and China. The segment manufactures and sells refined bismuth 
and bismuth chemicals, low melting-point alloys as well as refined selenium and selenium chemicals.  
 
The Company’s operations are not subject to seasonal fluctuations. 
 
In 2011, the Company changed its financial year-end from May 31 to December 31. These consolidated financial 
statements are for the year ended December 31, 2012 with comparative figures for the seven-month period ended 
December 31, 2011. 
 
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Company’s Board of Directors on 
March 28, 2013. 
 
 

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative 
financial instruments. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are also disclosed in Note 2. 
 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
 
Consolidation 
 
a) Subsidiaries 
 

All the subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Company controls another entity. The Company also assesses the existence of control where it does 
not have more than 50% of the voting power but is able to govern the financial and operating policies by virtue 
of de facto control. 

 
De facto control may arise in circumstances where the size of the Company’s voting rights relative to the size 
and dispersion of holdings of other shareholders gives the Company the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies. 

 
The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 
The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary corresponds to the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration 
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date. The Company recognizes any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 

 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising 
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Company is recognized at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or 
liability is recognized in accordance with IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, 
either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified 
as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for in equity. 

 
Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the fair value 
of non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration 
is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or 
loss. 

 
Intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from intercompany transactions that are recognized in assets are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Company. 

 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

8 

b) Associates 
 

All associates are entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under this method, the investment is initially recognized 
at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s share of the profit or loss 
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Company’s investment in associates includes goodwill 
identified on acquisition. 

 
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate 
share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where 
appropriate. 

 
The Company’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of earnings 
(loss), and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other 
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the 
Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other 
unsecured receivables, the Company does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

 
The Company determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in 
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Company calculates the amount of impairment as the difference 
between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the amount adjacent to 
share of profits (loss) of associates in the consolidated statement of earnings (loss). 

 
Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Company and its associate 
are recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s 
interests in the associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company. 

 
Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in associates are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
earnings (loss). 

 
Foreign currency translation 
 
a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the US dollar. Functional currency is determined for 
each of the Company’s entities, and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using 
that functional currency. 

 
b) Transactions and balances 
 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
earnings (loss), except when deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges and 
qualifying net investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement 
of earnings (loss) within “foreign exchange and derivative (gain) and loss”. 
 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currencies classified as available for 
sale are analyzed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the security 
and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to changes in amortized 
cost are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.  
 
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, 
such as equities classified as available for sale, are included in other comprehensive income. 

 
c) Group companies 
 

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows: 
 

i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of that statement of financial position; 

ii) income and expenses for each statement of earnings are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the 
transactions); and 

iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognized in 
other comprehensive income. 

 
Segment reporting 
 
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Company’s service lines, which represent 
the main products provided by the Company. The Company operates two principal segments: Electronic Materials 
and Eco-Friendly Materials. Discrete operating and financial information is available for these segments and is used 
to determine the operating performance of each segment and to allocate resources. 
 
The Electronic Materials segment is associated with the following metals: cadmium, gallium, germanium, indium 
and tellurium. These are sold as elements, alloys, chemicals and compounds. Typical end-markets include 
photovoltaics (solar energy), medical imaging, light emitting diodes (LED), displays, high-frequency electronics and 
thermoelectrics. 
 
The Eco-Friendly Materials segment manufactures and sells refined bismuth and bismuth chemicals, low melting-
point alloys as well as refined selenium and selenium chemicals. These are used in the pharmaceutical and animal-
feed industries as well as in a number of industrial applications including coatings, pigments, metallurgical alloys 
and electronics. 
 
Each operating segment is managed separately as each of these service lines requires different technologies, 
resources and marketing approaches. All intersegment transactions between the Electronic Materials and the 
Eco-Friendly Materials segment have been eliminated on consolidation.  
 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue comprises the sale of manufactured products and the rendering of services and is measured at the fair value 
of the sale of manufactured products, net of intercompany sales, value-added tax, and estimated customer returns and 
allowances at the time of recognition. The estimates of fair value are based on the Company’s historical experience 
with each customer and the specifics of each arrangement. 
 
Revenue from the sale of manufactured products and custom refining activities is recognized when the risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer (which generally occurs upon shipment) and collectibility of 
the related receivables is reasonably assured. Revenue is recognized when (i) it can be measured reliably; (ii) it is 
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and (iii) the costs incurred 
or to be incurred can be measured reliably.  
 
Management uses its best estimate to record revenue when measurement of the revenue is not yet determined and the 
criteria above are met. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line 
basis over 25 years for buildings, 10 years for production equipment, ranging from 3 to 10 years for furniture, office 
equipment and rolling stock, and over the term of the lease for leasehold improvements. As no finite useful life for 
land can be determined, related carrying amounts are not depreciated. Consistent with IAS 16, Property, Plant and 
Equipment, “significant components” with different useful lives from the original asset purchased or constructed are 
identified and depreciated using a representative useful life. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as 
incurred. 
 
However, “major overhauls and replacements” are capitalized to the consolidated statements of financial position as 
a separate component, with the replaced part or previous overhaul derecognized from the statement. 
 
Construction in progress is not depreciated until the assets are put into use. Costs are only capitalized if they are 
directly attributable to the construction or development of the assets. 
 
Residual values, method of depreciation and useful life of the assets are reviewed annually and adjusted if 
appropriate. 
 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment which exceed their recoverable amounts are written down to 
their recoverable amount and are recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) (see impairment 
section below). Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined as the 
difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets and are recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) in other expenses, net. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases if the Company bears substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the 
leased asset. At inception of the lease, the related asset is recognized at the lower of fair value and the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, and a corresponding amount is recognized as a finance lease obligation. Lease 
payments are split between finance charges and the reduction of the finance lease obligation to achieve a constant 
proportion of the capital balance outstanding. Finance charges are charged to net earnings (loss) over the lease term. 
 
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
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Goodwill and intangible assets 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis or whenever facts or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount. 
 
Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized on a straight-line basis over the periods stated below.  

 
 Periods 

  
Customer relationships 10 years 
Technology 5 years 
Trade name and non-compete agreements 2 to 5 years 
Software 5 years 
Intellectual property 10 years 
Development costs Not exceeding 10 years 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Impairment of goodwill 
 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows. As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at the 
cash-generating unit (“CGU”) level. Goodwill is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs for impairment testing 
purposes based on the level at which management monitors it, which is not higher than an operating segment. The 
allocation is made to those CGUs or group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related 
business combination in which the goodwill arises. 
 
Corporate head office assets and expenses are not allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs. If there is an indication that 
a corporate asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate asset 
belongs. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there 
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. This testing is done by comparing the carrying amount of the unit, 
including the goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the unit. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. To 
determine value in use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each CGU and determines a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment testing 
procedures are directly linked to the Company’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects 
of future reorganizations and asset enhancements. Discount factors are determined individually for each CGU and 
reflect their respective risk profiles as assessed by management. Impairment losses for a CGU are first allocated to 
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to that CGU, and the remainder is allocated to other assets of the 
unit on a pro rata basis. Goodwill impairment losses cannot be reversed.  
 
Impairment of other non-financial assets 
 
Non-financial assets with finite lives are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In addition, non-financial assets that are not amortized are 
subject to an annual impairment assessment. Any impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs). The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential 
reversals, other than goodwill impairment, when events or changes in circumstances warrant such consideration. 
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Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale  
 
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
 
Financial assets 
 
Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, and available for sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 
 
a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is 
classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also 
categorized as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current. 

 
b) Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Company’s loans and 
receivables comprise “trade and other receivables”, “cash and cash equivalents” and “temporary investments 
(restricted)” in the consolidated statements of financial position. 

 
c) Available-for-sale financial assets 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified 
in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or 
management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. 

 
Recognition and measurement 
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, the date on which the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs for all 
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or 
loss are initially recognized at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the consolidated statements of 
earnings (loss). Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at 
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” 
category are presented in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) within foreign exchange gain (loss) and 
derivatives in the period in which they arise.  
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Impairment of financial assets  
 
Assets carried at amortized cost 
 
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 
 
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization, and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 
 
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). If a loan has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Company may measure impairment on the basis of an 
instrument’s fair value, using an observable market price. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 
reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
The Company’s financial liabilities include borrowings, trade and accrued liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, except for 
financial liabilities held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, which are carried subsequently 
at fair value with gains or losses recognized in net earnings (loss). 
 
All derivative financial instruments that are not designated and effective as hedging instruments are accounted for at 
fair value through the consolidated statements of earnings (loss). All interest-related charges and, if applicable, 
changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) are included 
in foreign exchange (gain) loss and derivatives. 
 
Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities 
 
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the 
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Company 
designates certain derivatives as either: 
 

a) hedges of the fair value of recognized assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); 
 

b) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast 
transaction (cash flow hedge); or 

 
c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge). 
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The Company documents at the inception of a transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. 
The Company also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows 
of hedged items. 
 
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 17. 
 
The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining hedged 
item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less 
than 12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. 
 
a) Fair value hedge 
 

The Company generally applies fair value hedge accounting to certain interest-rate derivatives to hedge the 
exposures to changes in the fair value of recognized financial assets and financial liabilities. In a fair value 
hedge relationship, gains or losses from the measurement of derivative hedging instruments at fair value are 
recorded in net earnings (loss), while gains or losses on hedged items attributable to the hedged risks are 
accounted for as an adjustment to the carrying amount of hedged items and are recorded in net earnings (loss). 
 

b) Cash flow hedge 
 

The Company generally applies cash flow hedge accounting to forward foreign exchange contracts and 
interest-rate derivatives entered into to hedge foreign exchange risks on forecasted transactions and recognized 
assets and liabilities. In a cash flow hedge relationship, the portion of gains or losses on the hedging item that is 
determined to be an effective hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss), while the ineffective 
portion is recorded in net earnings (loss). The amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) are 
reclassified in net earnings (loss) as a reclassification adjustment when the hedged item affects net earnings 
(loss).  
 

c) Net investment hedge 
 

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.  
 
Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss). The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss). Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) when the foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold. 

 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes all expenditures directly attributable 
to the manufacturing process as well as suitable portions of related production overheads based on normal operating 
capacity. Costs of ordinarily interchangeable items are assigned using a weighted average formula. Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses. When the 
circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down below cost no longer exist or when there is clear 
evidence of an increase in net realizable value because of changed economic circumstances, the amount of the 
impairment is reversed (i.e. the reversal is limited to the amount of the original impairment) so that the new carrying 
amount is the lower of the cost and the revised net realizable value. 
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From time to time, when substantially all required raw materials are in inventories, the Company may choose to 
enter into long-term sales contracts at fixed prices. The quantity of raw materials required to fulfill these contracts is 
specifically assigned, and the average cost of these raw materials of this inventory are accounted for throughout the 
duration of the contract. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for the sale of manufactured products and the rendering of 
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified 
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets. 
 
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents may also include bank 
notes, as well as short-term money market instruments with maturities of three months or less at the date of 
acquisition, which can be immediately converted into cash upon acquisition. 
 
Temporary investments (restricted) 
 
Temporary investments represent restricted deposits held to secure certain liabilities of the Company. 
 
Trade and accrued liabilities 
 
Trade and accrued liabilities are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade and accrued liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. 
 
Trade and accrued liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method. 
 
Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
carried at amortized cost: any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) over the period of the borrowings using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the drawdown 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that same or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortized over the term of the facility to which it 
relates. 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
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Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.  
 
All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Income taxes 
 
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated statements 
of earnings (loss), except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) or 
directly in equity. In which case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) or directly in 
equity, respectively. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the date 
of the consolidated statements of financial position in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate 
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate 
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax 
liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that are enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the consolidated 
statements of financial position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be used. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided for on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by 
the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
 
Employee future benefits 
 
The Company contributes to a defined benefit pension plan. The significant policies related to employee future 
benefits are as follows: 
 

 The cost of pension and other post-retirement benefits earned by employees is actuarially determined using 
the projected benefit method pro-rated on service, market interest rates and management’s best estimate of 
expected plan investment performance, retirement ages of employees and expected health care costs. 

 Fair value is used to value the plan assets for the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets. 

 Cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the greater of the accrued 
benefit obligation or market-related value of plan assets at the beginning of the year are amortized over the 
estimated average remaining service life of plan participants. 
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Share-based payments 
 
The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payment plan is determined using the Black-Scholes model on the 
grant date. Measurement inputs include the share price on the measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, 
expected volatility, weighted average expected life of the instrument, expected dividends, expected forfeiture rate, 
and the risk-free interest rate. The impact of service and non-market vesting conditions is not taken into account in 
determining fair value. The compensation expense of the equity-settled awards is recognized in the consolidated 
statements of earnings (loss) over the graded vesting period, where the fair value of each tranche is recognized over 
its respective vesting period. 
 
For cash-settled share-based payment plans, the compensation expense is determined based on the fair value of the 
liability incurred at each reporting date until the award is settled. The fair value of the liability is measured using the 
Black-Scholes model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions attached to each grant and the extent to 
which the employees have rendered service to date. 
 
Earnings (loss) per share  
 
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net earnings (loss) for the period attributable to equity 
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  
 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated using the treasury stock method. Under this method, earnings (loss) per 
share data is computed as if the options were exercised at the beginning of the year (or at the time of issuance, if 
later) and as if the funds obtained from the exercise were used to purchase common shares of the Company at the 
average market price during the period. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognized when: the group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease 
termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 
 
Significant management estimation and judgment in applying accounting policies 
 
The following are significant management judgments used in applying the accounting policies of the Company that 
have the most significant effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Estimation uncertainty 
 
When preparing the consolidated financial statements, management undertakes a number of judgments, estimates 
and assumptions about recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Estimates and 
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

18 

Information about the significant judgments, estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on the 
recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are discussed below. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset’s or CGUs carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 
 
To determine value in use, management estimates expected future cash flows from each asset or CGU and 
determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In the process of 
measuring expected future cash flows, management makes assumptions about future operating results. These 
assumptions relate to future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary, and may cause significant 
adjustments to the Company’s assets in future periods. In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate 
involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to market risk and to asset-specific risk factors (Notes 8 and 9). 
 
Useful lives of depreciable assets 
 
Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that their carrying value amounts may not be recoverable. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined using the average cost 
method. In estimating net realizable values, management takes into account the most reliable evidence available at 
the time the estimates are made. The Company’s core business is subject to changes in foreign policies and 
internationally accepted metal prices which may cause selling prices to change rapidly. The Company evaluates its 
inventories using a group of similar items basis and considers events that have occurred between the balance sheet 
date and the date of the completion of the financial statements. Net realizable value held to satisfy a specific sales 
contract is measured at the contract price. 
 
Income taxes 
 
The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining 
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The Company recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the 
period in which such determination is made. 
 
The Company has deferred income tax assets that are subject to periodic recoverability assessments. Realization of 
the Company’s deferred income tax assets is largely dependent on its achievement of projected future taxable income 
and the continued applicability of ongoing tax planning strategies. The Company’s judgments regarding future 
profitability may change due to future market conditions, changes in tax legislation and other factors that could 
adversely affect the ongoing value of the deferred income tax assets. These changes, if any, may require the material 
adjustment of these deferred income tax asset balances through an adjustment to the carrying value thereon in the 
future. This adjustment would reduce the deferred income tax asset to the amount that is considered to be more likely 
than not to be realized and would be recorded in the period such a determination was to be made. 
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NOTE 3 – RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after January 1, 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these 
is expected to have a significant effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements, except the following set 
out below. 
 
Amendment to IAS 1, “Financial Statement Presentation”, regarding other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The 
main change resulting from this amendment is a requirement for entities to group items presented in OCI on the basis 
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The 
amendment does not address which items are presented in OCI. 
 
IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”, was amended in June 2011. The impact on the Company will be as follows: to 
immediately recognize all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a net 
interest amount that is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability (asset). The 
Company has yet to assess the full impact of the amendments. 
 
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the parts of IAS 39 that 
relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified 
into two measurement categories: those measured at fair value and those measured at amortized cost. The 
determination is made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing 
its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the 
standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is 
taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in OCI 
rather than the consolidated statement of earnings (loss), unless this creates an accounting mismatch. The Company 
has yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 9 no later than the accounting period beginning on 
or after January 1, 2015. The Company will also consider the impact of the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when 
completed by the Board. 
 
IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements”, builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as 
the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements of the 
parent company. The standard provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is 
difficult to assess. The Company has yet to assess IFRS 10’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 10 no later than 
the accounting period beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRS 12, “Disclosures of interests in other entities”, includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in 
other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special-purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles. 
The Company has yet to assess IFRS 12’s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting 
period beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 
 
IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise 
definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across 
IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned between IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value 
accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already required or permitted by other 
standards within IFRS. 
 
There are no other IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the Company. 
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NOTE 4 – ACQUISITION OF A 40% INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY 
 
On October 31, 2011, the Company acquired the remaining 40% ownership interest in one of its subsidiaries, LAOS 
Industrial Resources Co. Ltd., a metal refinery, for an amount of $2,014. This amount and the non-controlling 
interest balance in the consolidated statement of financial position as at October 31, 2011 of $(237) has been 
recognized directly to retained earnings for a total of $2,251. 
 
 

NOTE 5 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 
December 31, 

2012  
December 31,

2011 
 $  $ 
    
Gross trade receivables 78,948  71,322 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (168) (482)
Trade receivables 78,780 70,840 
Sales taxes receivable 4,604 4,706 
Other receivables 4,423 1,095 
Total accounts receivable 87,807 76,641 

 
All of the Company’s accounts receivable are short term. The net carrying value of accounts receivable is considered 
a reasonable approximation of fair value. The Company reviews all amounts periodically for indications of 
impairment and the amounts impaired have been provided for as an allowance for doubtful accounts.  
 
The Company’s exposure to credit risks and impairment losses related to accounts receivable is disclosed in Note 26. 
 
Most of the accounts receivable are pledged as security for the revolving credit facility (Note 13). 
 
 

NOTE 6 – INVENTORIES 
 

 
December 31, 

2012  
December 31,

2011 
 $  $ 
   
Raw materials 60,410  75,511 
Work-in-progress and finished goods 109,883 239,822 
Total inventories 170,293 315,333 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, a total of $467,019 of inventories was included as an expense in cost of sales 
(seven-month period ended December 31, 2011 – $313,855). This includes $50,585 of impairment of inventories 
($23,750 for the Electronic Materials segment and $26,835 for the Eco-Friendly Materials segment) (seven-month 
period ended December 31, 2011 – $34,790 ($30,964 for the Electronic Materials segment and $3,826 for the Eco-
Friendly Materials segment)). 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, a total of $56,137 previously written down was recognized as a reduction of 
expenses in cost of sales ($36,490 for the Electronic Materials segment and $19,647 for the Eco-Friendly Materials 
segment). No amounts previously written down were recognized as a reduction of expenses during the seven-month 
period ended December 31, 2011. 
 
The majority of inventories are pledged as security for the revolving credit facility (Note 13). 
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NOTE 7 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Land and
buildings 

Production
equipment

Furniture, office 
equipment and 

rolling stock 
Leasehold

improvements Total
 $  $  $  $ $

Seven-month period ended December 31, 2011 
As at June 1, 2011 36,864 54,795 2,188 3,177 97,024
Additions  1,870 4,034 815 434 7,153
Disposals  (22) (147) - - (169)
Impairment losses - (8,848) (181) (2,431) (11,460)
Depreciation  (983) (4,431) (374) (111) (5,899)
Effect of foreign exchange (127) (36) (3) - (166)
As at December 31, 2011 37,602 45,367 2,445 1,069 86,483

As at December 31, 2011 
Cost  40,119 51,705 2,836 1,588 96,248
Accumulated depreciation (2,517) (6,338) (391) (519) (9,765)
Net book value 37,602 45,367 2,445 1,069 86,483

Year ended December 31, 2012 
As at December 31, 2011 37,602 45,367 2,445 1,069 86,483
Additions  5,653 9,762 1,635 614 17,664
Disposals  - (705) (192) (22) (919)
Impairment losses(a)(b) (18,899) (19,225) (878) (237) (39,239)
Reversal of impairment(c) - 932 - - 932
Depreciation  (1,784) (5,885) (1,494) (118) (9,281)
Effect of foreign exchange and adjustment 90 (163) (19) - (92)
As at December 31, 2012 22,662 30,083 1,497 1,306 55,548

As at December 31, 2012 
Cost  26,058 35,772 2,752 1,952 66,534
Accumulated depreciation (3,396) (5,689) (1,255) (646) (10,986)
Net book value 22,662 30,083 1,497 1,306 55,548

 
(a) As at December 31, 2012, the Company recognized an impairment of $28,235 in other expenses, due to the longer than anticipated pricing softness in 

minor metals, and a significant reduction in market capitalization. The impairment expense relates to the Eco-Friendly Materials segment (Note 9). 
 
(b) Following the announcement of the closure of a site, the Company has recognized an impairment of $11,004 in the Electronic Materials segment. The 

impairment represents the excess of the recoverable amount of the carrying value of the related asset. 
 
(c) For the 12-month period ended December 31, 2012, a total of $932 previously written down in the Electronic Materials segment was reversed due 

mainly to the activation of some activities. 
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NOTE 8 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 
Customer 

relationships Technology 

Trade name and
non-compete

agreements

Software, 
intellectual 

property and 
development costs Total

 $ $ $ $ $
 

  

   

Cost  
As at December 31, 2011 42,966 23,108 7,781 3,369 77,224
Additions - - - 347 347
Adjustment - - (21) (10) (31)
Impairment losses(a) (32,508) (17,483) (4,698) - (54,689)
As at December 31, 2012 10,458 5,625 3,062 3,706 22,851
    
Amortization     
As at December 31, 2011 3,131 3,029 1,886 1,030 9,076
Amortization  4,380 4,620 2,159 719 11,878
Adjustment - - (6) (15) (21)
Impairment losses(a) (5,683) (5,787) (2,622) - (14,092)
As at December 31, 2012 1,828 1,862 1,417 1,734 6,841
    
Net book value as at 
December 31, 2012 8,630 3,763 1,645 1,972 16,010
  

 
Customer 

relationships Technology

Trade name and
non-compete

agreements

Software, 
intellectual 

property and 
development costs Total

 $ $ $ $ $
 

  

   

Cost  
As at June 1, 2011 42,966 23,108 7,724 3,404 77,202
Additions - - 57 696 753
Impairment losses(b) - - - (700) (700)
Effect of foreign exchange - - - (31) (31)
As at December 31, 2011 42,966 23,108 7,781 3,369 77,224
    
Amortization     
As at June 1, 2011 578 333 586 843 2,340
Amortization  2,553 2,696 1,347 302 6,898
Effect of foreign exchange - - (47) (47) (94)
Adjustment  - - - (68) (68)
As at December 31, 2011 3,131 3,029 1,886 1,030 9,076
    
Net book value as at 
December 31, 2011 39,835 20,079 5,895 2,339 68,148
 
(a) As at December 31, 2012, the Company recognized an impairment of $40,597 in other expenses, due to the longer than anticipated pricing softness in 

minor metals, and a significant reduction in market capitalization. The impairment expense was split $8,403 and $32,194 between the Electronic 
Materials and Eco-Friendly Materials segments respectively (Note 9). 

 
(b) As at December 31, 2011, the Company recognized an impairment of $700 in other expenses in respect of development costs due to the significant 

decline in the solar market. The impairment expense is related to the Electronic Materials segment. 
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NOTE 9 – GOODWILL 
 
    $ 
     
As at June 1, 2011    123,916 
Other    994 
As at December 31, 2011     124,910 
Impairment losses    (124,910) 
As at December 31, 2012    - 

 
The impairment was split $14,450 and $110,460 between the Eco-Friendly Materials and Electronic Materials 
segments respectively. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to the following CGUs for the purpose of annual impairment testing: 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Electronic Materials segment  - 110,460 
Eco-Friendly Materials segment   - 14,450 
Total goodwill allocated  - 124,910 

 
Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 
 
For purposes of the annual assessment of impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and finite useful lives 
intangible assets the Company has determined that it has four cash-generating units: (i) the solar sector; (ii) the 
germanium and related business; (iii) the remaining Electronic Materials segment; (iv) the Eco-Friendly Materials 
segment (which represent the same level used to test goodwill). The Company concluded that there were no trigger 
events which would require an impairment calculation for the solar sector and germanium and related businesses. 
However, the Company has determined that an impairment calculation was necessary on the remaining Electronic 
Materials segment, due mainly to lower than anticipated growth in the light-emitting diode (LED) sector related to 
gallium metal and the lower than expected growth in the indium metal-related sector. For the year ended 
December 31, 2012, the Company has recorded an impairment of $8,403 related to its other Electronic Materials 
cash-generating unit, which was all attributed to intangible assets. 
 
Also, the Company completed the required annual impairment testing for goodwill at the CGU level of the 
Eco-Friendly Materials and Electronic Materials segments, which represent the lowest level at which management 
monitors goodwill. It was concluded there was impairment of goodwill in both the Eco-Friendly Materials and 
Electronic Materials segments, following longer than anticipated pricing softness in minor metals, and a significant 
reduction in the market capitalization of the Company. As a result, the year ended December 31, 2012 includes 
$124,910 of goodwill impairment, of which $14,450 relates to the Eco-Friendly Materials segment and $110,460 
relates to the Electronic Materials segment. In addition, the year ended December 31, 2012 includes $60,429 of 
impairment charges related to the excess of the carrying value of the Eco-Friendly Materials CGU over its 
recoverable amount, of which $32,194 was attributed to intangible assets and $28,235 to property, plant and 
equipment. 
 
The fair value less costs to sell was used to determine the recoverable amount of these CGUs by applying discounted 
projections of future cash flows based on financial forecast approved by management. Average growth rates of 4.5% 
were used for extrapolating the budget estimates over the years, in addition to a discount rate of 11.4%, working 
capital requirements of 37.5% of sales and a weighted average income tax rate of 23.0%. 
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Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions and 
factors. As a result, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the long-lived 
assets and annual goodwill impairment test will prove to be an accurate prediction of the future. Events or 
circumstances that could reasonably be expected to negatively affect the underlying key assumptions and ultimately 
impact the estimated fair value of the Eco-Friendly Materials and Electronic Materials segments are, to name a few, 
lower than expected anticipated growth and change in the industry related to the Company’s metals. 
 
 

NOTE 10 – INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Beginning of year  1,513 1,084 
Reversal due to acquisition of remaining 50% interest(a)  (677) - 
Share of profit (loss) from joint ventures  (333) 429 
End of year  503 1,513 

 
(a) The Company acquired the remaining 50% interest of MCP Crystal and MCP Shenzhen for the total price of $0.6 million. 
 
The following summarizes financial information of the Company’s share of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses 
of Ingal Stade GmbH (“Ingal”), in which the Company holds a 50% interest, and MCP Crystal and MCP Shenzhen, 
in which the Company held a 50% interest until their acquisition in 2012. 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
Share of:     
Assets  5,057 6,606 
Liabilities   4,575 4,831 
Revenue  4,127 6,615 
Profit (loss)  (333) 429 
 
 

NOTE 11 – OTHER ASSETS 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Deferred costs  2,676 3,606 
Deposit  1,500 1,727 
Loan receivable from a related party (Note 25)  3,958 3,688 
Other  1,114 2,474 
Total other assets  9,248 11,495 
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NOTE 12 – TRADE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Trade payables  49,500 35,763 
Accrued liabilities  12,714 23,266 
Total trade and accrued liabilities  62,214 59,029 

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing. 
 
 

NOTE 13 – BANK INDEBTEDNESS, SHORT- AND LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
a) Bank indebtedness and short-term debt 
 
The Company has credit lines with financial institutions in China. These credit lines are guaranteed by other group 
companies. 
 
As at December 31, 2012      
      
Contractual currency HK$   RMB   Total 
      
Facility available -  217,000  217,000 
Amount drawn -  50,500  50,500 
 
As at December 31, 2012      
      
Reporting currency US$   US$   Total 
      
Facility available -  34,438  34,438 
Amount drawn -  8,014  8,014 
 
As at December 31, 2011      
      
Contractual currency HK$   RMB   Total 
      
Facility available 390,000  194,000  n/a 
Amount drawn 390,000  146,440  n/a 
 
As at December 31, 2011      
      
Reporting currency US$  US$  Total 
     
Facility available 50,205 30,826  81,031 
Amount drawn 50,205 23,225  73,430 
 
The Chinese renminbi (“RMB”) credit line bears interest at 105% to 110% of the RMB base rate. 
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b) Long-term debt 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Unsecured balance of purchase price and holdback to the former shareholders of MCP for 

an amount of €51,899 (€36,928 as a promissory note and €14,971 as holdback), 
bearing interest at interest rate swap three-year rate plus 3.00%(b). The promissory 
note is repayable in two annual instalments beginning April 2013 and the holdback 
is repayable in April 2014(a) and (b).  65,928 80,066 

Senior secured revolving facility of $200,000 with a syndicate of banks, maturing in 
August 2015(c) 72,213 185,000 

Term loan, non-interest bearing, repayable under certain conditions, maturing in 2023. If 
the loan has not been repaid in full by the end of 2023, the balance will be 
forgiven(d) 797 824 

Debt, bearing interest at a rate of three-month LIBOR plus 3.00%, repayable in 
April 2013 769 1,836 

Other loans  718 750 
 140,425 268,476 

Less: Current portion of long-term debt  29,527 14,757 
 110,898 253,719 

 
(a) Under agreements entered into with two executives who left the Company in 2012, the Company made payments of HK$10 million and 

€0.9 million (approximately $2,600 in aggregate) in October 2012. These payments could be applied as a reduction of the unsecured 
balance of purchase price above of $65,928 if certain conditions are eventually met. 

(b) Refer to Note 24. 

(c) This revolving credit facility can be drawn in US dollars, Canadian dollars or euros. The interest rate depends on a debt/EBITDA ratio 
and can vary from LIBOR, banker’s acceptance or EURIBOR plus 1.25% to 2.75% or US base rate or prime rate plus 0.25% to 1.75%. 
Also, standby fees from 0.31% to 0.69% are paid on the unused portion of the credit facility. The revolving credit facility can be 
increased to $300,000 subject to acceptance by the lenders, and it is guaranteed by a pledge on almost all of the assets of certain entities 
of the Company. The amount drawn as at December 31, 2012 comprised $1,052 in Canadian dollar advances and $71,161 in US dollar 
advances. The total amount drawn was in US dollars as at December 31, 2011. The facility is subject to covenants. As at December 31, 
2012, the Company met all covenants (Note 29). 

(d) The term loan has been reclassified as short term debt since these amounts could become payable on demand. 

Under the terms of its credit facility, the Company is required to satisfy certain restrictive covenants as to financial 
ratios. In order to comply with these covenants, the Company has prepared and will need to execute on its budgeted 
EBITDA and cash flow estimates. Management believes that the assumptions used by the Company in preparing its 
budgets are reasonable and that it is not likely that the financial covenants will be violated in the next 13 months. 
However, the risk remains. Successful achievement of these budgeted results is dependent on stability in the price of 
metals and other raw materials, reduction of debt through optimization of the Company’s working capital and the 
continued viability and support of the Company’s bank. 
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NOTE 14 – RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION 
 
The Company operates a defined pension plan in Germany based on employee pensionable earnings and length of 
service. Former general and senior managers had been provided with direct benefit commitments. Employees had 
been provided with indirect benefit commitments via the Unterstützungseinrichtung der HEK GmbH e.V. Such 
promises had been made for employees with entry date of December 31, 1993 or earlier.  
 

  
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
   $  $ 
    
Present value of unfunded obligations  12,092 12,315 

 
Movement in the defined benefit obligation is as follows: 
 

  

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31, 

2011 
   $  $ 
      
Beginning of period  12,315 13,481 
Current service cost  73 39 
Interest cost  627 355 
Effect of foreign exchange  150 (1,285) 
Benefits paid  (398) (226) 
Actuarial gains  (675) (49) 
End of period  12,092  12,315 

 
Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss) are as follows: 
 

  

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31, 

2011 
   $  $ 
      
Current service cost  73 39 
Interest cost  627 355 
Total included in wages and salaries (Note 28)  700  394 

 
The principal actuarial assumptions as at period-ends were as follows: 
 

  
December 31, 

2012 
December 31,

2011 
       
Discount rate   3.1% 5% 
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NOTE 15 – OTHER LIABILITIES 
 

 
Site 

provision 
Deferred
revenues 

 
Other Total 

 $    $  $ 
        
As at June 1, 2011 3,463 789  4,036  8,288 
Additional provisions 1,107 467  677 2,251 
Unused amounts reversed - (5) - (5)
Utilized (1,098) (191) (2,486) (3,775)
Reclassification to current liabilities (2,588) - - (2,588)
As at December 31, 2011 884 1,060 2,227  4,171 
      
Utilized (884) (1,050) (677) (2,611)
As at December 31, 2012 – non-current liabilities - 10  1,550 1,560 

 
 

NOTE 16 – INCOME TAX 
 

   

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
   $  $ 
      
Current tax:    
Current tax (recovery) on profits for the period  1,167 (4,483) 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  (924) 903 
Total current tax (recovery)  243 (3,580) 
    
Deferred tax:    
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (24,464) (1,133) 
Total deferred tax  (24,464) (1,133) 
Income tax recovery  (24,221) (4,713) 
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The tax on the Company’s profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the applicable federal and 
provincial statutory tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: 
 

 
For the year ended 
December 31, 2012 

For the seven-month 
period ended 

December 31, 2011 
 $  %  $  % 
        
Tax on loss at local statutory rate (67,807)  26.9 (7,719)  28.4 
       
Increase (decrease) resulting from:       

Unrecorded losses carried forward  7,319  (2.9) 4,391  (16.2)
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 1,718  (0.7) 400  (1.5)
Non-deductible impairment of goodwill 33,600  (13.4) -  - 
Benefits arising from a financing structure (1,030)  0.4 (996)  3.7 
Non-taxable foreign exchange (178)  0.1 (358)  1.3 
Effect of difference of foreign tax rates compared 

to Canadian tax rates 530 
 

(0.2) (823) 
 

3.0 
Prior year adjustments 1,344  (0.5) 903  (3.3)
Other 283  (0.1) (511)  1.9 

Total income tax recovery (24,221)  9.6 (4,713)  17.3 

 
The variation in the statutory rate between December 2011 (28.4%) and December 2012 (26.9%) is explained mainly 
by the reduction of the statutory federal rate from 16.5% to 15.0%. 
 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $
     
Deferred tax assets:   
To be recovered within 12 months 1,685 642 
To be recovered after 12 months 9,547 2,064 
   
Deferred tax liabilities:   
To be recovered within 12 months - - 
To be recovered after 12 months (2,632) (19,143)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) – (net) 8,600 (16,437)

 
Movement in the deferred income tax amounts is as follows: 
 

 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $
     
Beginning of period (16,437)  (17,794)
Tax charge relating to components of other  

comprehensive income (loss) 137 188 
Charged to consolidated statements of earnings (loss) 24,464 1,133 
Tax charged directly to equity 436 36 
End of period 8,600 (16,437)



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

30 

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same 
jurisdiction, is as follow: 
 

Deferred tax assets 

Property,
plant and

equipment Inventories

Loss 
carry 

forward

Share issue
expenses and 
professional 

fees Others Total
Offset by 

jurisdiction Total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
 
As at June 1, 2011 185 2,389 - 1,967 1,447 5,988
Charged (credited) to consolidated statement of loss (185) 889 - (381) 111 434
Charged (credited) to equity - - - 36 - 36
Charged (credited) to comprehensive loss - - - - 188 188
As at December 31, 2011 - 3,278 - 1,622 1,746 6,646 (3,940) 2,706
Charged (credited) to consolidated statement of loss 4,609 (1,535) 8,243 (609) 194 10,902
Charged (credited) to equity - - - 436 - 436
Charged (credited) to comprehensive loss - - - - 137 137
As at December 31, 2012 4,609 1,743 8,243 1,449 2,077 18,121 (6,889) 11,232

 
 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Property,
plant and

equipment Inventories
Intangible 

assets Others Total
Offset by 

jurisdiction Total
 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
 
As at June 1, 2011 5,923 216 16,910 733 23,782
Charged (credited) to consolidated statement of loss (941) - - 242 (699)
As at December 31, 2011 4,982 216 16,910 975 23,083 (3,940) 19,143
Charged (credited) to consolidated statement of loss (1,295) (158) (12,430) 321 (13,562)
As at December 31, 2012 3,687 58 4,480 1,296 9,521 (6,889) 2,632
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Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit is probable. The 
Company has unrecognized tax losses carryforwards of $47,500 as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – 
$26,118) for which no deferred income tax assets have been recognized. 
 
The deferred tax assets of $11,232, as reported on the consolidated statements of financial position, are dependent on 
projection of future taxable profits for entities that have suffered a loss in the current period. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities have not been recognized for the withholding tax and taxes that would be payable on 
the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings 
totalled $43,364 as at December 31, 2012 (December 31, 2011 – $272,195). 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had the following operating tax losses available for carryforward for which 
no deferred tax benefit has been recorded in the account. 
 

Country    
Carryforward 

period 
 $  
   

United Kingdom  20,978 No limit 
Belgium  17,068 No limit 
United States 7,697 2031–2032 
Malaysia 1,077 No limit 
Peru 680 2015–2016 
Total  47,500  

 
 

NOTE 17 – CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
Fair value 
 
All financial assets classified as loans and receivables, as well as financial liabilities classified as other liabilities are 
initially measured at their fair values and subsequently at their amortized cost using the effective interest method. All 
financial assets and financial liabilities classified as held for trading are measured at their fair values. Gains and 
losses related to periodic revaluations are recorded in net earnings (loss). 
 
The Company has determined that the carrying value of its short-term financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments (restricted), accounts receivable, bank indebtedness and 
short-term debt, and trade and accrued liabilities approximates their carrying value due to the short-term maturities of 
these instruments. 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the fair value of long-term debt approximates its carrying value and is calculated using the 
present value of future cash flows at the year-end rate for similar debt with the same terms and maturities. 
 
The following table presents financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated 
statements of financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. This hierarchy groups financial assets 
and financial liabilities into three levels based on the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair value of the 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 

 Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
 liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and 
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 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data  
 (unobservable inputs). 

 
The level in which the financial asset or financial liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of 
significant input to the fair value measurement. The financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in 
the consolidated statements of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows as at 
December 31: 
 

December 31, 2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 $ $ $ 
    
Financial liabilities    
Interest rate swap - 3,870 - 
Foreign exchange forward contracts  1,080  
Options - 239 - 
Warrants 1,165 - - 
Total 1,165 5,189 - 

 
December 31, 2011 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 $ $ $ 
    
Financial liabilities    
Interest rate swap - 2,326 - 
Foreign exchange forward contracts - 517 - 
Options - 2,873 - 
Total - 5,716 - 

 
Derivative assets and liabilities 
 
The Company currently has derivative financial instruments which relate to the following: 
 

 Interest rate swap to fix the interest rate on part of its revolving credit facility; 

 Foreign exchange forward contracts to sell US dollars in exchange for euros related to hedge strategies; 

 Options sold to a financial institution related to hedge strategies; and 

 Warrants. 
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The derivatives are measured at fair value as follows: 
 

Liability 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31, 

2011 
  $  $ 
     
Interest rate swap(a)  3,870  2,326 
Foreign exchange forward contracts(b)  1,080  517 
Options(c)  239  2,873 
Warrants (d)  1,165  - 
Total   6,354  5,716 

 
(a) The interest rate swap has a nominal value of $100,000 commencing in January 2013 and ending in August 2015. Under this 

swap, the Company will pay a fixed interest rate of 1.82%. The Company received $1,700 when entering into this forward 
starting interest rate swap in September 2011. This amount forms part of the fair value that is recorded as a long-term liability. 
The Company initially designated this contract as a cash flow hedge of anticipated variable payments of interest on a nominal 
amount of $100,000 of the revolving line of credit, and the change in its fair value was recorded in the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income (loss). On September 4, 2012, the Company repaid part of its credit facility and de-designated 
$30,000 of the nominal amount of the swap. The Company reclassified the estimated fair value of this portion of the swap 
from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to unrealized loss on de-designation within the consolidated statement 
of earnings. 

 
Prior to the de-designation of the cash flow hedge related to a forecasted transaction on September 3, 2012, the Company 
assessed the effectiveness of the cash flow hedge as well as at December 31, 2012. 
 

(b) The foreign exchange forward contracts are to sell US dollars in exchange for euros. The nominal value of the euro forwards 
was €30,000 until April 11, 2013 and April 11, 2014 at US$/euros rates of 1.3546 and 1.3641 respectively.  

 
(c) The Company sold options to a financial institution, giving it the right to sell euros to the Company on specific dates. The 

options have a nominal value of €21,500 with a euro/US$ rate of 1.3283 and will mature in January 2013 without renewal. 
 
(d) On June 6, 2012, the Company issued 6,451,807 warrants (Note 18), which expire on June 6, 2014. 
 
The following methods were used to estimate fair value: 
 

 Interest rate swap: Estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using period-end interest rate yield curves; 

 Foreign exchange forward contracts: Estimated by discounting expected future cash flows using period-end currency 
rate; 

 Options: Standard Black-Scholes model using end of period market data as input; and 

 Warrants: Fair value based on the Toronto stock exchange (“TSX”) closing price. The ticker symbol of the publicly 
traded warrants is VNP.WT. 

 
 



5N PLUS INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 
(Figures in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

34 

NOTE 18 – ISSUANCE OF UNITS  
 
On June 6, 2012, the Company closed a placement for total gross proceeds of CA$40,001 (US$38,485). The 
financing consisted of the issuance of 12,903,613 units at a price of CA$3.10 per unit. Each unit consisted of one 
common share and one–half common share purchase warrant, with each such whole warrant entitling the holder to 
subscribe for one additional common share at a price of CA$5.00 until June 6, 2014. 
 
The initial fair value of the 6,451,807 warrants was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on 
the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 1.25%, average expected volatility of 40%, expected dividend 
per share of nil and expected life of warrants of two years. As a result, the fair value of the common share purchase 
warrants was estimated at CA$1,419 (US$1,366) after a pro rata allocation of the fair value of the units’ components. 
 
This amount was allocated to warrants, and the balance of CA$38,582 (US$37,119) to share capital. The warrants 
were recorded as a derivative liability. In accordance with IFRS, an obligation to issue shares for a price that is not 
fixed in the Company’s functional currency and that does not qualify as a rights offering to all shareholders of that 
class must be classified as a derivative liability and measured at fair value, with changes recognized in the 
consolidated statements of earnings (loss) as they arise. 
 
The fair value of the warrants as at December 31, 2012 was $(1,165) (Note 17). 
 
The total issuance costs of the units amounting to $1,185 (net of income tax of $436) was attributed to retained 
earnings. 
 
 Number Amount Amount 
  CA$ US$ 
    
Units issued for cash 12,903,613 40,001 38,485 
    
Less: Warrants  (1,419) (1,366) 
    
Net amount attributable to share capital 38,582 37,119 
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NOTE 19 – OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 

The following tables summarize the information reviewed by the Company’s managements when measuring 
performance: 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2012 
Eco-Friendly

Materials 
Electronic
Materials 

Corporate 
and unallocated Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Segment revenues 319,662 232,013 - 551,675 
Adjusted EBITDA(1) 18,632 34,653 (15,429) 37,856 
Interest on long-term debt and other interest expense - - 8,828 8,828 
Restructuring costs 1,325 1,456 - 2,781 
Impairment of inventories (Note 6) 26,835 23,750 - 50,585 
Impairment of properties, plant and equipment  

(Note 7) 28,235 11,004 - 39,239 
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 8) 32,194 8,403 - 40,597 
Impairment of goodwill (Note 9) 14,450 110,460 - 124,910 
Foreign exchange loss and derivative - - 2,759 2,759 
Depreciation and amortization 11,470 9,563 126 21,159 
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and 

equipment (Note 7) - (932) - (932) 
Loss before income tax (95,877) (129,051) (27,142) (252,070) 
Capital expenditures 7,445 8,830 1,389 17,664 

 
For the seven-month period ended  
December 31, 2011 

Eco-Friendly
Materials 

Electronic
Materials 

Corporate 
and unallocated Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Segment revenues 205,697 186,015 - 391,712 
Adjusted EBITDA(1) 18,426 30,631 (11,644) 37,413 
Interest on long-term debt and other interest expense - - 5,487 5,487 
Impairment of inventories 3,826 30,964 - 34,790 
Impairment of properties, plant and equipment - 4,525 6,935 11,460 
Foreign exchange gain and derivative - -  (642)  (642)
Depreciation and amortization 6,910 5,807 80 12,797 
Other - - 698 698 
Earnings (loss) before income tax 7,690 (10,665) (24,202)  (27,177) 
Capital expenditures 2,742 4,313 98 7,153 
 

As at December 31, 2012 
Eco-Friendly 

Materials 
Electronic
Materials 

Corporate 
and unallocated Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Total assets excluding the following: 162,073 204,578 5,592 372,243 
Investment accounted for using equity method - 503 - 503 
Deferred tax asset 3,873 5,996 1,363 11,232 
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As at December 31, 2011 
Eco-Friendly 

Materials 
Electronic
Materials 

Corporate 
and unallocated Total 

 $ $ $ $ 
     
Total assets excluding the following: 317,297 332,224 3,694 653,215 
Goodwill 14,450 110,460 - 124,910 
Investment accounted for using equity method - 1,513 - 1,513 
Deferred tax asset 2,170 503 33 2,706 
 
(1) Earnings (loss) before income tax, depreciation and amortization and the following: interest on long-term debt and other interest expense, 

restructuring costs, impairment of inventories, reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment, impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, of intangibles assets and goodwill, acquisition-related costs, and foreign exchange (gain) loss and derivative.  

 
The geographic distribution of the Company’s revenues based on the location of the customers for the periods ended 
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the identifiable non-current assets as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 are 
summarized as follows: 
 

Revenues  

December 31, 
2012 

(12 months)  

December 31,
2011 

(7 months) 
 $ $ 
   

Asia    
China  72,672 39,298 
Japan  10,425 18,276 
Others  106,575 39,671 

America   
United States 102,344 90,493 
Others 21,231 13,065 

Europe   
France 33,067 16,256 
Germany 90,455 64,232 
United Kingdom 27,021 55,537 
Others 84,097 51,805 

Other 3,788 3,079 
Total  551,675 391,712 

 

Non-current assets as at  
December 31, 

2012  
December 31,

2011 
$ $ 

  
Asia   

Hong Kong 10,801 95,067 
Other 9,543 13,429 

United States 6,058 15,751 
Europe   

Belgium 23,755 42,264 
Germany 9,164 74,222 
Other 6,087 16,845 

Canada  27,133 37,677 
Total  92,541 295,255 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2012, one customer represented approximately 13.3% (12.5% for the 7 month 
period ended December 31, 2011) of the revenues, and is included in the Electronic Materials revenues. 
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NOTE 20 – SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
Net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations consists of the following: 
 

 

For the  
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
$ $ 

  
Decrease (increase) in assets:    

Accounts receivable (10,549) 36,231 
Inventories 95,615 (49,822)
Income tax receivable (7,816) (8,355)
Other current assets 1,221 (1,094)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:  
Trade and accrued liabilities (3,915) (8,146)
Income tax payable 1,863 (7,067)

Net change 76,419 (38,253)

 
The consolidated statements of cash flows exclude or include the following transactions: 
 

 

For the  
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
 

a) Exclude additions unpaid at end of period: 
$ $ 

  
Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,394 190 

 
b) Include additions unpaid at beginning of period: 

$ $ 
  

Additions to property, plant and equipment 190 2,176 

 
 

NOTE 21 – SHARE CAPITAL 
 
Authorized: 

 An unlimited number of common shares, participating, with no par value, entitling the holder to one vote 
per share 

 An unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in one or more series with specific terms, privileges and 
restrictions to be determined for each class by the Board of Directors. As at December 31, 2012, no 
preferred shares were issued 

 
None of the Company’s shares is held by any subsidiary or joint venture. 
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NOTE 22 –LOSS PER SHARE 
 
The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used for the computation of basic and diluted loss 
per share: 
 

Numerators 

For the  
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   

Net loss attributable to equity holders of 5N Plus Inc.  (227,738) (21,641) 
   
Net loss for the period  (227,849) (22,464) 

 
Given the Company’s stock price for the year ended December 31, 2012 and given the consolidated net loss incurred 
by the Company for that period, stock options and warrants were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per 
share due to their anti-dilutive effect. 
 

 

For the  
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
   
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – Basic and diluted 78,352,364 70,939,901 

 
 

NOTE 23 – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company had the following share-based compensation plans. 
 
Stock option plan  
 
On April 11, 2011, the Company adopted a new stock option plan (the “Plan”) replacing the previous plan (the “Old 
Plan”) in place since October 2007, with the same features as the Old Plan with the exception of a maximum number 
of options granted which cannot exceed 5,000,000. The aggregate number of shares which could be issued upon the 
exercise of options granted under the Old Plan could not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company at the time 
of granting the options. Options granted under the Old Plan may be exercised during a period not exceeding ten years 
from the date of grant. The stock options outstanding as at December 31, 2012 may be exercised during a period not 
exceeding six years from their date of grant. Options vest at a rate of 25% (100% for directors) per year, beginning 
one year following the grant date of the options. Any unexercised options will expire one month after the date a 
beneficiary ceases to be an employee, director or officer.  
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Restricted share unit incentive plan 
 
On June 7, 2010, the Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) Plan to complement the stock option plan. 
The RSU Plan enables the Company to award to eligible participants phantom share units that vest after a three-year 
period. The RSU is settled in cash and is recorded as a liability. The measurement of the compensation expense and 
corresponding liability for these awards is based on the fair value of the award, and is recorded as a charge to selling, 
general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses over the vesting period of the award. At the end of each financial 
period, changes in the Company’s payment obligation due to changes in the market value of the common shares on 
the TSX are recorded as a charge to SG&A expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted 
33,978 RSUs and, cancelled 12,385 RSUs. As at December 31, 2012, 79,480 RSUs were outstanding (2011 – 
57,887). 
 
Restricted share unit incentive plan for foreign employees 
 
On June 7, 2010, the Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit for Foreign Employees (“RSUFE”) Plan. Under this 
Plan, the RSUFE granted may be exercised during a period not exceeding ten years from the date of grant. The 
RSUFE outstanding as at December 31, 2012 may be exercised during a period not exceeding six years from their 
date of grant. RSUFE vest at a rate of 25% per year beginning one year following the grant date of the award. For the 
12-month period ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted 14,995 RSUFE and, paid 1,981 RSUFE. As at 
December 31, 2012, 54,364 RSUFE were outstanding (2011 – 41,350). 
 
Stock Appreciation Rights 
 
On November 1, 2011, the Company granted 247,000 Stock Appreciation Rights (“SARs”) to most of its employees 
except senior management. The SARs are vested and paid over a period of three years. The SARs are exercisable 
automatically for cash at each anniversary date and the Company is obligated to pay the holders. The amount of cash 
payout is calculated based on the number of SARs multiplied by the average price of the Company’s shares for the 
month immediately before vesting. At the end of each financial period, changes in the Company’s payment 
obligations due to changes in the market value of the common shares on the TSX are recorded as an expense. For the 
year ended December 31, 2012, 59,383 SARs were cancelled and, 61,250 SARs were paid. As at December 31, 2012 
123,167 SARs were outstanding (2011 – 243,800).  
 
The following table presents information concerning all outstanding stock options: 
 

For the year ended
December 31, 2012 

For the seven-month period ended
December 31, 2011

  
Number of 

options 
Weighted average

exercise price 
Number of 

options 
Weighted average

exercise price 
CA$ CA$ 

Outstanding, beginning of period 1,543,211 5.28 1,384,025 4.52 
Granted 325,840 2.22 275,249 8.60 
Cancelled (240,072) 5.60 (47,565) 5.40 
Exercised (43,531) 3.36 (68,498) 3.17 
Outstanding, end of period 1,585,448 4.67 1,543,211 5.28 
Exercisable, end of period 1,024,656 4.94 908,657 4.28 
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The outstanding stock options as at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 
 

  
Exercise 

price  

Maturity Low High 
Number of 

options 
 CA$ CA$  
    
December 2013 3.00 3.00 357,650 
June and August 2014 9.13 10.32 7,500 
October 2014 3.81 3.81 2,500 
January 2015 to October 2016 4.87 6.16 646,920 
June and September 2017 8.50 8.64 245,038 
December 2017 6.16 6.16 7,500 
November 2018 2.22 2.22 318,340 

 1,585,448 
 
The fair value of stock options at the grant date was measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The 
historical share price of the Company’s common shares is used to estimate expected volatility, and government bond 
rates are used to estimate the risk-free interest rate. The following table illustrates the inputs used in the measurement 
of the fair values of the stock options at the grant date granted during the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the 
seven-month period ended December 31, 2011: 
 

 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
   
Expected stock price volatility 53% 39% 
Dividend None None 
Risk-free interest rate 1.07% 1.475% 
Expected option life 4 years 4 years 
Fair value – weighted average of options issued  $0.93 $3.22 

 
The following table shows the share-based compensation expense recorded in the consolidated statements of 
earnings (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2012 and for the seven-month period ended December 31, 2011: 
 

Expense 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31, 

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Stock options 563 443 
RSUFE - 10 
SARs 92 114 
Total 655 567 
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The following table shows the carrying amount and the intrinsic value of the share-based compensation liabilities: 
 

Liability  
December 31, 

2012  
December 31,

2011 
$ $ 
  

RSUs 92 92 
RSUFE 10 10 
SARs 189 114 
Total  291 216 

 
 

NOTE 24 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Commitments 
 
The Company rents certain premises and equipment under the terms of operating leases. Future minimum payments 
excluding operating costs for the next years are as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Within one year 2,148 1,511 
After one year but not more than five years 2,612 3,426 
Total commitments 4,760 4,937 

 
Contingencies 
 
In the normal course of operations, the Company is exposed to events that could give rise to contingent liabilities or 
assets. As at the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the Company was not aware of any significant 
events that would have a material effect on its consolidated financial statements, except for the following. 
 
The Company has filed a request for arbitration against Florinvest S.A., Heresford Ltd., Metals Corp. S.C.R.L. and 
S.R.I.W. S.A. (the “Vendors”), which are all former shareholders of MCP Group S.A. (“MCP”), as it believes that 
the Vendors have breached the terms of the Acquisition Agreement and certain other related agreements, including 
breaches with respect to representations and warranties made by the Vendors and breaches of closing conditions. 
 
Furthermore, the Company and MCP have also filed lawsuits against the former directors of MCP, holding them 
personally liable for any and all damages caused by any faults or tortuous acts committed by them acting as directors 
of MCP or in any other capacity. 
 
Accordingly, the Company does not intend to pay any amounts due under the balance of purchase price payable until 
resolution of the arbitration proceedings. 
 
The Company is investigating the potential impact that any such breaches may have had on the pre- and post- 
acquisition business practices of MCP. As of the date hereof, the Company has not received any claims related to 
these events for fines, penalties or other monetary compensation from any third party. Due to the nature of the 
investigation including the possibility that the scope maybe broadened, the Company cannot predict at this time the 
final outcome with respect to any investigation nor can it reasonably estimate the range of loss, if any, which could 
result from any such investigations and could have a material adverse impact on its future results of operations. 
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NOTE 25 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Company’s related parties are its joint ventures, associates, directors and executive members. 
 
Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporates special terms and conditions and no guarantees were 
given or received. Outstanding balances are usually settled in cash. 
 
Ingal Stade (“Ingal”) supplies gallium metal to other companies of the group. At the time MCP Shenzhen was a joint 
venture (Note 10), the Company supplied gallium to MCP Shenzhen. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the 
Company purchased $5,994 worth of gallium from Ingal and did not sell any gallium to MCP Shenzhen (the 
Company purchased $3,945 worth of gallium from Ingal and sold $63 worth of gallium to MCP Shenzhen for the 
seven-month period ended December 31, 2011). 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company has no balance payable to Ingal (2011 – $25) and a loan receivable from 
Ingal of $3,958 (€3,000) (2011 – $3,688 (€2,850)) (Note 11). 
 
 

NOTE 26 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
In the normal course of operations, the Company is exposed to various financial risks. These risk factors include 
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market price, such as foreign exchange rates, equity prices and interest rates, 
will affect the Company’s net (loss) or the value of financial instruments. 
 
The objective of market risk management is to mitigate exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing 
returns. 
 
(i) Currency risk  
 
Currency risk refers to the fluctuation of financial commitments, assets, liabilities, income or cash flows due to 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company conducts business transactions and owns assets in several countries 
and is therefore subject to fluctuations in the currencies in which it operates. The Company’s revenues and expenses 
are exposed to currency risk largely in the following ways: 

 
• Translation of foreign currency-denominated revenues and expenses into US dollars, the Company’s 

functional currency – When the foreign currency changes in relation to the US dollar, earnings reported in 
US dollars will change. The impact of a weakening foreign currency in relation to the US dollar for foreign 
currency-denominated revenues and expenses will result in lower net earnings (higher net loss) because the 
Company has more foreign currency-denominated revenues than expenses. 

 
• Translation of foreign currency-denominated debt and other monetary items – A weakening foreign currency 

in respect of the Company’s foreign currency-denominated debt will decrease the debt in US dollar terms and 
generate foreign exchange gain on bank advances and other short-term debt, which is recorded in earnings. 
The Company calculates the foreign exchange on short-term debt using the difference in foreign exchange 
rates at the beginning and end of each reporting period. Other foreign currency-denominated monetary items 
will also be affected by changes in foreign exchange rates. 
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The following table summarizes in US dollar equivalents the Company’s major currency exposures as at 
December 31, 2012: 

 
 CA$ EUR GBP RMB HK$ 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 101 2,771 85 3,913 11 
Temporary investments (restricted) - 2,357 - - - 
Accounts receivable 444 12,574 2,203 3,893 - 
Bank indebtedness and short-term debt - - - (8,014) - 
Trade and accrued liabilities (2,568) (11,379) (870) (4,733) (232)
Long-term debt (1,052) (65,928) - - - 
Net financial assets (liabilities) (3,075) (59,605) 1,418 (4,941) (221)

 
The following table shows the impact on loss before income tax of a one-percentage point strengthening or 
weakening of foreign currencies against the US dollar as at December 31, 2012 for the Company’s financial 
instruments denominated in non-functional currencies: 
 

 CA$ EUR GBP RMB  HK$ 
 $ $ $ $ $
1% Strengthening   

Earnings (loss) before tax (31) (596) 14 (49) (2)

1% Weakening      

Earnings (loss) before tax 31 596 (14) 49 2 
 
Occasionally, the Company will enter into short-term foreign exchange forward contracts to sell US dollars in 
exchange for Canadian dollars, euros, Hong Kong dollars and British pounds sterling. These contracts would hedge a 
portion of ongoing foreign exchange risk on the Company’s cash flows since much of its non-US dollar expenses 
outside China are incurred in Canadian dollars, euros, Hong Kong dollars and British pounds sterling. 
 
(ii) Market risk – Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. 
The Company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations on its revolving credit facility, which bears a floating interest 
rate. 
 
As at December 31, 2012, the Company has an outstanding interest rate swap contract to hedge part of its interest 
rate risk on the revolving credit facility. The nominal value is $100,000 commencing in January 2013 and ending in 
August 2015. This interest rate swap fixed the LIBOR interest rate at 1.82%. The Company received $1,700 when 
entering into this interest rate swap in September 2011, which was the fair value of the instrument on signing. The 
fair value of the contract is $(3,870) as at December 31, 2012 and is recorded as part of derivative financial liabilities 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 
(iii) Market risk – Other price risk 
 
Other price risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, 
other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk. The Company is exposed to other price risk with 
respect to the underlying risks of the held-for-trading financial instruments included in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. 
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Warrants 
 
In June 2012, the Company issued 12,903,613 units at a price of CA$3.10 per unit. Each unit comprises one 
common share and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. The Company issued 6,451,807 warrants, 
which are recorded as part of derivative financial liabilities at fair value based on the stock exchange market. 
The fair value is $(1,165) as at December 31, 2012 and nil as at December 31, 2011. Fair value depends on 
several factors, such as market volatility, foreign exchange rate volatility, interest rate fluctuations, the 
Company’s market activity and other market conditions. 
 
Options 
 
The Company sold options to a financial institution, giving it the right to sell euros to the Company on 
specific dates. The options have a nominal value of €21,500 with €/US$ exchange of 1.3283, and they mature 
in January 2013 without renewal. The fair value is $(239) as at December 31, 2012. 
 
The market value of those financial instruments depends on several factors, such as foreign market volatility, 
the remaining duration of the instruments and other market conditions. 
 
Because of the above, it is very difficult for the Company to evaluate market risk. The Company believes that 
a sensitivity analysis would be unrepresentative. 

 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk refers to the possibility that a customer or counterparty will fail to fulfill its obligations under a contract 
and, as a result, create a financial loss for the Company. The Company has a credit policy that defines standard credit 
practice. This policy dictates that all new customer accounts be reviewed prior to approval and establishes the 
maximum amount of credit exposure per customer. The creditworthiness and financial well-being of the customer 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. 
 
The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts as determined by management based on its assessment 
of collection; therefore, the carrying amount of accounts receivable generally represents the maximum credit 
exposure. As at December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company has an allowance for doubtful accounts of $168 and 
$482 respectively. The provision for doubtful accounts, if any, is included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss), and is net of any recoveries that were provided for in prior 
periods. 
 
Counterparties to financial instruments may expose the Company to credit losses in the event of non-performance. 
Counterparties for derivative and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions, which are 
monitored on an ongoing basis. Counterparty credit assessments are based on the financial health of the institutions 
and their credit ratings from external agencies. As at December 31, 2012, the Company does not anticipate non-
performance that would materially impact its consolidated financial statements. 
 
No financial assets are past due except for trade receivables. The aging analysis of the latter two categories of 
receivables is as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Up to 3 months 22,966 24,235 
More than 3 months 1,395 1,381 

 24,361 25,616 
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The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for trade receivables: 
 

 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Beginning of period 482 190 
Provision for impairment 1,333 298 
Trade receivables written off during the year as uncollectible(a) (1,647) - 
Unused amounts reversed - (6) 
End of period 168 482 

 
(a) For the year ended December 31, 2012, a client from the Eco-Friendly Materials segment had significant difficulties and the Company wrote 

off the account receivable of $1.4 million (€1.1 million). 

 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due 
(Note 13(b)). The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure. It also manages 
liquidity risk by continually monitoring actual and projected cash flows, taking into account the Company’s sales and 
receipts and matching the maturity profile of financial assets and financial liabilities. The Board of Directors reviews 
and approves the Company’s annual operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of the 
ordinary course of business, including proposals on acquisitions and other major investments. 
 
The following table reflects the contractual maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities as at December 31, 2012: 
 

 
Carrying

amount 1 year 
2-3 

years 
4-5 

years 
Beyond 
5 years Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ $
       
Bank indebtedness and short-term debt 8,014 8,531 - - - 8,531 
Trade and accrued liabilities 62,214 62,214 - - - 62,214 
Derivative financial instruments 6,354 2,817 3,537 - - 6,354 
Long-term debt 140,425 31,236 116,552 421 21 148,230 

Total  217,007 104,798 120,089 421 21 225,329 

 
 

NOTE 27 – CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may amend the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
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The Company requires the approval of its lenders on some of the capital transactions such as the payment of 
dividends and capital expenditures over a certain level. 
 
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (comprising bank indebtedness and short-term debt and 
long-term debt in the consolidated statements of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents and temporary 
investments (restricted). Total equity is the equity attributable to equity holders of 5N Plus Inc. in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 
 
Debt-to-equity ratios as at period-ends are as follows: 
 

 
December 31, 

2012 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Total borrowings 148,439 341,906 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and temporary investments (restricted) (11,892) (81,331) 
Net debt 136,547 260,575 
Shareholders’ equity  148,112 339,241 
Debt-to-equity ratio 92% 77% 

 
 

NOTE 28 – KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION AND EXPENSE BY NATURE 
 
Key management compensation  
 
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and certain senior management. The compensation 
expense paid or payable to key management for employee services is as follows:  
 

Key management compensation 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

2011 
 $ $ 
   
Wage and salaries  4,731 3,085 
Share-based compensation 219 301 
Total  4,950 3,386 
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NOTE 29 – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
In March 2013, the Company signed an amendment to its senior secured multi‑currency revolving credit facility 
under which the facility will be reduced to $100 million starting March 31, 2013. The amendment establishes new 
financial covenants for the year 2013 and maintains the original maturity (August 2015). The interest rate has been 
changed and is linked to the Debt/EBITDA ratio, and can vary from LIBOR, banker’s acceptance rate or EURIBOR 
plus 3.00% to 4.50% or US base rate or prime rate plus 2.00% to 3.5%. Standby fees from 0.75% to 1.125% are paid 
on the unused portion. At any time, 5N Plus has the option to request that the credit facility be expanded to $140 
million through the exercise of an additional $40 million accordion feature, subject to review and approval by the 
lenders. 
 

Expense by nature 

For the 
year ended 

December 31, 
 2012 

For the 
seven-month 
period ended 
December 31,

 2011 
$ $
  

Wages and salaries  39,653 31,677 
Share-based compensation 655 567 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortization  

of intangible assets 21,159 12,797 
Research and development (net of tax credit) 4,763 3,027 
Impairment of goodwill 124,910 - 
Impairment of inventories 50,585 34,790 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 39,239 11,460 
Impairment of intangible assets 40,597 700 
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment (932) - 
Restructuring costs 2,781 - 


